# Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Secondary Recycled Water Project

Environmental Assessment

PREPARED FOR:



**JANUARY 2023** 

CENTRAL UTAH WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT



# Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Secondary Recycled Water Project

**Environmental Assessment** 





# Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Secondary Recycled Water Project

# **ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT**

Prepared for

Central Utah Water Conservancy District 1426 East 750 North, Suite 400 Orem, Utah 84097 Attn: Sarah Sutherland

and

Department of the Interior, Central Utah Project Completion Act Office 302 East Lakeview Parkway Provo, Utah 84606 Attn: Reed Murray

January 2023

#### **Joint Lead Agencies**

U.S. Department of the Interior, Central Utah Project Completion Act Office Central Utah Water Conservancy District

#### Sponsors

Draper Irrigation Company Bluffdale City

#### **Cooperating Agency**

Utah Reclamation Mitigation and Conservation Commission U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Jordan Valley Water Conservancy District South Valley Sewer District

#### **Responsible Officials**

Reed R. Murray U.S. Department of the Interior, CUPCA Office 302 East Lakeview Pkwy Provo, Utah 84606-7317

Gene Shawcroft Central Utah Water Conservancy District 1426 East 750 North, Suite 400 Orem, Utah 84097-5474

#### For information, contact:

Sarah Sutherland Central Utah Water Conservancy District 1426 East 750 North, Suite 400 Orem, Utah 84097-5474 (801) 226-7147 sarah@cuwcd.com

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### Page

Table of Contentsi					
List of Tables and Figuresiii					
Abbreviati	Abbreviations and Acronymsiv				
CHAPTER	CHAPTER 1 – PURPOSE AND NEED FOR PROPOSED ACTION				
1.1	Introduction1				
1.2	Background 1				
1.2.1	Bonneville Unit of the Central Utah Project1				
1.2.2	Draper Irrigation Company and Bluffdale City 2				
1.3	Proposed Action				
1.3.1	Project Study Area 3				
1.4	Purpose and Need 3				
1.4.1	Need of the Proposed Project 3				
1.4.2	Purpose of the Proposed Project				
1.5	Permits, Contracts, and Authorizations4				
1.6	Related Projects and Documents 4				
CHAPTER	2 – ALTERNATIVES				
2.1	No-Action Alternative				
2.2	Proposed Action Alternative (Preferred Alternative)				
2.2.1	Recycled Wastewater Volume				
2.2.2	South Valley Sewer District				
2.2.3	, Wastewater Reuse Act				
2.2.4	Construction of the Proposed Action				
2.2.5	Operation & Maintenance				
	3 - AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES				
5.1 2.2	Resources considered and Eliminated from Further Analysis				
3.2	Groundwater				
3.2.1	Affected Environment				
3.2.2	Environmental Consequences				
3.3	water Quality				
3.3.1	Affected Environment				
3.3.2	Environmental Consequences				

3.4	Water Rights	14
3.4.1	Affected Environment	14
3.4.2	Environmental Consequences	14
3.5	Surface Water	15
3.5.1	Affected Environment	15
3.5.2	Environmental Consequences	16
3.6	Cultural Resources	17
3.6.1	Affected Environment	17
3.6.2	Environmental Consequences	19
3.7	Indian Trust Assets	19
3.7.1	Affected Environment	19
3.7.2	Environmental Consequences	19
3.8	Threatened and Endangered Species	20
3.8.1	Affected Environment	20
3.8.2	Environmental Consequences	21
3.9	Wetlands and Aquatic Resources	22
3.9.1	Affected Environment	22
3.9.2	Environmental Consequences	23
3.10	Climate Change	26
3.10.1	Affected Environment	26
3.10.2	Environmental Consequences	26
3.11	Cumulative impacts	26
3.12	Construction Impacts	27
3.12.1	Air Quality	27
3.12.2	Noise and Vibration	28
3.12.3	Transportation and Utilities	28
3.12.4	Public Safety	29
3.12.5	Water Quality and Storm Water Control	29
3.12.6	Soils and Vegetation	30
3.12.7	Invasive Species and Noxious Weeds	31
3.12.8	Hazardous Waste	31
CHAPTER	4 – PROJECT COORDINATION	32
4.1	Public and Agency Scoping	32
4.1.1	Scoping Comments	33
CHAPTER	5 – LIST OF PREPARERS	34

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1: Summary of CUP Treated Wastewater Availability	. 13
Table 3-2: Average Jordan River Flows (during the irrigation season)	. 16

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Proposed Action Overview	5
Figure 3-1: Delineation Results	24
Figure 3-2: Delineation Results	25
Figure 3-3: Delineation Results	26

Acronym	Name
ACHP	Advisory Council on Historic Preservation
AF	acre-feet
AMSL	above mean sea level
APA	Agricultural protection areas
APE	Area of Potential Effects
BMP	Best Management Practice
CAAA	Clean Air Act Amendments
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability
CEQ	Council on Environmental Quality
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
cfs	cubic feet per second
CUP	Central Utah Project
CUPCA	Central Utah Project Completion Act
CUPCA Office	Central Utah Project Completion Act Office
CUWCD	Central Utah Water Conservancy District
CWP	Central Water Project
DEQ	Utah Division of Water Quality
Distribution Plan	Utah Lake Interim Water Distribution Plan
District	Central Utah Water Conservancy District
DPR	Definite Plan Report
DOI	U.S. Department of the Interior
EA	Environmental Assessment
EIS	Environmental Impact Statement
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
EJIC	East Jordan Irrigation Company
ESA	Endangered Species Act
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency
FONSI	Finding of No Significant Impact
GPM	gallons per minute
Interior	U.S. Department of the Interior, Central Utah Project Completion Act
IPaC	Information for Planning and Consultation
ITAs	Indian Trust Assets
JLAs	Joint Lead Agencies

#### ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

Acronym		Name			
	JSRIP	June Sucker Recovery Implementation Program			
	M&I	Municipal and Industrial			
	MBTA	Migratory Bird Treaty Act			
	MG	million gallons			
	Mitigation Commission	Utah Reclamation Mitigation and Conservation Commission			
	MOA	Memorandum of Agreement			
	MOU	Memorandum of Understanding			
	NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act			
	NFIP	National Flood Insurance Program			
	NHPA	National Historic Preservation Act			
	NRCS	Natural Resource Conservation Service			
	NRHP	National Register of Historic Places			
	PL	Public Law			
	PRA	Provo River Aqueduct			
	Reclamation	U.S. Bureau of Reclamation			
	SFHA	Special Flood Hazard Area			
	SHPO	State Historic Preservation Office			
	SPC	species of concern			
	SR	state road			
	SVSD	South Valley Sewer District			
	SWPPP	Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan			
	UAC	Utah Administrative Code			
	UDAQ	Utah Division of Air Quality			
	UDCC	Utah Data Conservation Center			
	UDEQ	Utah Department of Environmental Quality			
	UDOT	Utah Department of Transportation			
	UDWR	Utah Division of Wildlife Resources			
	UNHP	Utah Natural Heritage Program			
	ULS	Utah Lake Drainage Basin Water Delivery System			
	UPDES	Utah Pollutant Discharge Elimination System			
	USACE	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers			
	USC	United States Code			
	USFWS	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service			
	UST	underground storage tank			

# **CHAPTER 1 – PURPOSE AND NEED FOR PROPOSED ACTION**

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

This Environmental Assessment (EA) has been prepared to disclose and evaluate the potential effects of the Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Secondary Recycled Water Project (Project). The Project is proposed by the Draper Irrigation Company (DIC) and Bluffdale City and would be located in Salt Lake County, Utah. If approved, the U.S. Department of the Interior – Central Utah Project Completion Act Office (Interior) could authorize the use of federal funds requested by the DIC and Bluffdale City to construct project features for wastewater recycling of up to 5,766 acre-feet (AF) of Central Utah Project (CUP) water. Under section 207 of CUPCA, up to 65 percent of the project costs could be provided from federal funds, subject to appropriations.

The EA has been prepared in compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 USC §§ 4321-4347), as amended (NEPA); the requirements of the Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ's) implementing NEPA regulations at 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Parts 1500-1508 (2022); and the Department of the Interior Regulations Implementing NEPA at 43 CFR Part 46. The EA was prepared by the Joint Lead Agencies (JLAs), Interior and the Central Utah Water Conservancy District (CUWCD), acting under authority in Section 205 of Public Law (PL) 102-575, and in conjunction with cooperating agencies (40 CFR 1508.5) - Utah Reclamation Mitigation and Conservation Commission (Mitigation Commission), U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation), Jordan Valley Water Conservancy District (JVWCD), and South Valley Sewer District (SVSD). If the EA shows no significant impacts associated with implementation of the Project, then a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) will be issued by the JLAs. If it is determined that there may be significant impacts, the JLAs will initiate the preparation of an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) prior to implementing the Project.

# 1.2 BACKGROUND

#### 1.2.1 Bonneville Unit of the Central Utah Project

The Bonneville Unit of the Central Utah Project collects and diverts water within the Uinta Basin (part of the Colorado River Basin) to the Bonneville and Uinta basins, providing water for Salt Lake, Utah, Wasatch, Juab, and Duchesne counties, and portions of Summit County, Utah. The Bonneville Unit contains a vast network of reservoirs, aqueducts, tunnels, canals, pipelines, pump stations, and other conveyance facilities that develop water for irrigation, municipal, and industrial use, instream flows, and hydropower production.

Bonneville Unit water delivered from Jordanelle and the Strawberry reservoirs produces return flow volumes from wastewater and drainage from outdoor uses. The Bonneville Unit is comprised of six systems, including the Municipal and Industrial System (M&I System) and the Utah Lake Drainage Basin Water Delivery System (ULS). Bonneville Unit return flows are available to be used by the JLAs for downstream deliveries, or for Bonneville Unit exchanges. Some of this water is also available for recycling projects as approved by Interior and CUWCD and in accordance with Utah State water law. In Salt Lake County, return flows from Bonneville Unit uses occurs as wastewater. The treatment and recycling of return flows from wastewater, as quantified by the State Engineer in the administration of the water rights, is an important part of the Bonneville Unit water supply in Salt Lake County. The amount of return flows credited as Bonneville Unit water by the State Engineer from M&I uses of Bonneville Unit transbasin water is considered by Interior to be Bonneville Unit water and thus available for recycling as a CUP water supply.

#### 1.2.1.1 ULS EIS and Wastewater Recycling Commitment

Interior, CUWCD, and the Mitigation Commission completed an EIS for the ULS in the Fall of 2004, and subsequent Records of Decisions (RODs) were signed by Interior in December 2004 and the Mitigation Commission in January 2005. The ULS RODs include a recycling wastewater commitment. It states: "The District [CUWCD], working with the Interior, and owners/operators of wastewater treatment plants, shall by the year 2033 recycle 18,000 acre-feet of return flows from the Bonneville Unit Project Water and shall continue to maintain recycling the 18,000 acre-feet through water year 2050; . . .". Section 207 of PL 102-575, as amended, provides authority to the Interior to recycle CUP wastewater.

# 1.2.2 Draper Irrigation Company and Bluffdale City

DIC provides water to approximately 3,260 secondary irrigation connections in southern Salt Lake County. Water for the secondary irrigation system is obtained from runoff, springs, and Utah Lake via the Jordan River and East Jordan Canal with secondary water rights held in Utah Lake.

Bluffdale City serves water to approximately 840 secondary irrigation connections. Secondary irrigation water is obtained from Utah Lake with their secondary water rights held in Utah Lake delivered through canals. Bluffdale City is also supplemented from reuse water from the Utah Data Center, canal water, and secondary water purchased from DIC.

DIC and Bluffdale City rely, in part, on water supplied from their secondary rights held in Utah Lake. This water is delivered from the lake into the Jordan River and diverted into the canal system where it is used for secondary irrigation. Both DIC and Bluffdale City have been investigating the feasibility of using recycled treated wastewater as a source to supplement their secondary irrigation systems. At times during the irrigation season, the water quality of Utah Lake is not suitable for secondary irrigation purposes. The Utah Lake water flowing in the Jordan River/canal system contains solids, algae, snails, sediment, worms, seeds, and other debris. Both DIC and Bluffdale City hold secondary Utah Lake water rights that are subject to shortages and can be cut off in drought years (e.g., 2016 and 2022).

# **1.3 PROPOSED ACTION**

The Proposed Action would be to use federal funding to assist in recycling up to 5,766 AF1 of wastewater discharged at the Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility (JBWRF) located in south Salt Lake Valley. It includes the installation of approximately 13,600-feet of piping ranging between 12 to 42-inches in diameter (some of the pipe sections would connect to existing piping), construction and drilling of four shallow groundwater wells near JBWRF and construction of necessary appurtenances (e.g., electrical and communication lines), and upgrades to the DIC Fort Street pump station. The pipelines and other appurtenances of the Proposed Action are shown in Figure 1-1.

The Proposed Action would be the first CUP recycled treated wastewater project that would receive federal funding and be adopted to meet a portion of the CUPCA commitment to recycle 18,000 AF of water in Salt Lake County. DIC and Bluffdale City would be responsible for constructing the facilities necessary to transport their respective shares of the secondary recycled water to their secondary irrigation users.

#### 1.3.1 Project Study Area

The Project Study Area encompasses approximately 31 acres within three municipalities in southern Salt Lake Valley – Draper, Riverton, and Bluffdale cities. Construction of the recycled water pump station and groundwater wells and their associated appurtenances would take place on the JBWRF site located just north of Bangerter Highway and west of the Jordan River. The proposed pipelines for the Project would be constructed in or directly adjacent to existing residential or commercial roadways. The DIC pipeline would require a new crossing under I-15 and two canals.

#### 1.4 PURPOSE AND NEED

#### 1.4.1 Need of the Proposed Project

The proposed project is needed to provide federal funds to recycle up to 5,766 AF of CUP treated wastewater to increase the quantity and reliability of available secondary water for DIC and Bluffdale City and meet the ULS environmental commitment to recycle water in Salt Lake County.

#### 1.4.2 Purpose of the Proposed Project

- Improve quality and reliability of the secondary water supply for DIC and Bluffdale City.
- Provide a system to reduce use of culinary water for secondary irrigation use.
- Provide a more resilient, drought-resistant secondary water system.
- Improve the water quality of secondary irrigation water by supplying a higher quality wastewater discharged from JBWRF. This wastewater is a higher quality than the Utah

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Initially, the project would recycle 3,315 AF. However, the pipelines, pumps and wells, and other needed facilities would be sized and constructed to accommodate a total of 5,766 AF of recycled wastewater.

Lake water flowing in the Jordan River/canal system which contains solids, algae, snails, sediment, worms, seeds, and other debris.

• Provide piping and other facilities necessary for the delivery of up to 5,766 AF of wastewater from the JBWRF for DIC and Bluffdale City.

#### 1.5 PERMITS, CONTRACTS, AND AUTHORIZATIONS

The Proposed Action for the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project would comply with all federal, state, and local regulations.

The parties would enter into a Reuse Authorization Contract under the 2006 Utah Wastewater Reuse Act UT Code §73-3C-102 (Reuse Act).

Under authority of CUPCA (section 207), a cooperative agreement would be required by Interior to provide federal funds and to implement the project.

Implementation by the construction contractor of a stormwater pollution prevention plan (SWPPP) would be required by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit program. The SWPPP would include sediment and erosion control Best Management Practices such as minimizing the disturbed area, preserving topsoil, controlling stormwater runoff with berms, the use of silt fencing or fiber rolls, and revegetation. It would also implement good housekeeping practices such as proper materials handling and provide for septic, construction, and hazardous materials waste management.

#### 1.6 RELATED PROJECTS AND DOCUMENTS

- Final Environmental Impact Statement and Records of Decisions, Utah Lake Drainage Basin Water Delivery System (2004 and 2005).
- Final Environmental Impact Statement and Record of Decision, UDOT Bangerter 600 West Project (2012). This decision approved the construction of some sections of the secondary water pipeline.
- South Valley Sewer District Wastewater Treatment Facility Plan and 208 Plan Amendment (2007).
- Preliminary Scope of Proposed Wastewater Reuse Project at Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Technical Memorandum (2021).



Figure 1-1: Proposed Action Overview

Page Intentionally Left Blank

# **CHAPTER 2 – ALTERNATIVES**

This chapter describes the alternatives considered for the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project. The alternatives evaluated in this EA are the No-Action and the Proposed Action Alternatives.

# 2.1 NO-ACTION ALTERNATIVE

Under the No-Action Alternative, the United States would not use any funding for the Project, and the CUP treated wastewater from the JBWRF would not be recycled into DIC's and Bluffdale City's secondary irrigation systems but would continue to be released into the Jordan River. Moreover, the pipeline segments that would complete the recycled secondary water pipeline would not be constructed, the shallow groundwater wells would not be installed, and there would be no construction or upgrades of pump stations.

# 2.2 PROPOSED ACTION ALTERNATIVE (PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE)

The Proposed Action would be to use federal funding to assist in recycling up to 5,766 AF of treated wastewater discharged at the JBWRF located in south Salt Lake Valley. The Proposed Action includes the installation of approximately 13,600-feet of piping ranging between 12 to 42-inches in diameter (some of the pipe would connect to existing piping installed as part of a separate project), construction and drilling of four shallow groundwater wells near JBWRF site and construction of necessary appurtenances (e.g., electrical, communication lines), and upgrades to the DIC Fort Street pump station.

The Proposed Action would be the first CUP recycled treated wastewater project that would receive federal funding and be adopted to meet a portion of the CUPCA commitment to recycle 18,000 AF of water in Salt Lake County. DIC and Bluffdale City would be responsible for constructing the facilities necessary to transport their respective shares of the secondary recycled water to their secondary irrigation users.

# 2.2.1 Recycled Wastewater Volume

A total of 5,766 acre-feet of treated wastewater would be recycled from the JBWRF during the irrigation season (April 1<sup>st</sup> through October 31<sup>st</sup>). A total of 4,137 acre-feet of wastewater would be recycled for DIC and 1,629 acre-feet to Bluffdale City. During the non-irrigation season, CUP treated wastewater would continue to be discharged to the Jordan River.

# 2.2.2 South Valley Sewer District

M&I water is provided to Draper City, DIC, Sandy City, and Bluffdale City by JVWCD. Wastewater in the area is collected by the SVSD system which has an estimated 1,000 miles of public sanitary sewer lines in the ground over an area of 105 square miles in south Salt Lake Valley. Most of the wastewater flows in SVSD's sewer lines from the east and west side of the valley toward the Jordan River, where it is conveyed to either JBWRF or the South Valley Water Reclamation Facility (near 7500 South and Redwood Road). SVSD owns and operates the JBWRF which is located in Riverton, Utah adjacent to Bangerter Highway and the Jordan River. The treated wastewater capacity at the JBWRF is 15 million gallons per day (MGD) with potential buildout capacity of approximately 30 MGD. Currently, all of the treated wastewater effluent at the JBWRF is discharged into the Jordan River.

#### 2.2.3 Wastewater Reuse Act

The 2006 Utah Wastewater Reuse Act UT Code §73-3C-102 (Reuse Act) defines how water rights must be administered within the context of a wastewater recycling system. The Reuse Act requires that the underlying water right holder and each public agency involved in the conveyance of the culinary water, and the collection and treatment of the related domestic wastewater, and the distribution of the treated wastewater for reuse must agree (through a Reuse Authorization Contract) to the reuse of the wastewater. The CUP wastewater treated and proposed for recycling at JBWRF is owned by the United States, contracted to CUWCD, and allocated by CUWCD to JVWCD. The JVWCD has contracts with DIC and Bluffdale City to allow them to use their respective shares of CUP treated wastewater to supplement their secondary irrigation systems.

The Proposed Action would deliver CUP treated wastewater, through water rights held by the United States, to DIC and Bluffdale City secondary irrigation users. The JVWCD has contracts with DIC and Bluffdale City to allow them to use their respective shares of CUP treated wastewater to supplement their secondary irrigation systems. The volume of CUP wastewater that would be treated by JBWRF and made available to DIC and Bluffdale City would be based on the average irrigation season flow of CUP wastewater from their respective culinary water users treated at the JBWRF.

#### 2.2.4 Construction of the Proposed Action

#### 2.2.4.1 Wastewater Pipelines

The Proposed Action Alternative would install approximately 13,600-feet (about 9,800 feet required for DIC and 3,800 feet for Bluffdale City) of secondary recycled water pipelines. The new pipelines would range between 12 to 42-inches in diameter. The pipelines would begin at the JBWRF and extend to DIC (to the east) and Bluffdale City (to the west). The DIC pipelines would connect to existing segments of pipe that have already been constructed (as part of another project) and would extend to the Fort Street Booster pump station (DIC facility). For the DIC pipeline, there are two parallel alignment options between 150 East and 500 East (see Figure 1-1 in Chapter 1):

- pipeline along the Channing Hall School access road.
- pipeline along 13560 South Road.

For Bluffdale City, the Proposed Action would install approximately 3,800 feet of secondary recycled water pipeline that would extend from the JBWRF to city's secondary water connection at 1300 West and Jordan Basin Lane (see Figure 1-1 in Chapter 1).

#### 2.2.4.2 Recycled Water Pump Station (common for DIC and Bluffdale City)

A new recycled water pump station would be constructed at JBWRF site. The DIC and Bluffdale City would share the pump station building. A wall within this building would

separate the two systems. The recycled water pump station is needed to lift the recycled wastewater to DIC and Bluffdale City and their respective secondary water systems. Within JBWRF, approximately 700-feet of new 42-inch HPDE pipe would be installed to connect the discharged wastewater to the new recycled water pump station.

# 2.2.4.3 Groundwater Wells (DIC only)

Four shallow groundwater wells would be drilled to a depth approximately 150-feet near the recycled water pump station. The disturbance area for drilling each well would be approximately 50-feet x 100-feet for each site. Groundwater from the wells would be conveyed in 12-inch pipelines that would connect to the secondary recycled water pipeline as it leaves JBWRF.

#### 2.2.4.4 Utilities (common for DIC and Bluffdale City)

A new electrical utility powerline from Rocky Mountain Power (RMP) and a new communication line would be installed to support the recycled pump station and shallow groundwater wells. The (12.470 kilovolt (kV)) powerline would be approximately 2,700 feet in length and would likely connect to an existing power facility located next to Bangerter Highway at the end of Jordan Basin Lane. The new communication line would come from the JBWRF administration building.

#### 2.2.4.5 Fort Street Booster Pump Station (DIC only)

The DIC Fort Street booster pump station would need to be upgraded to pump the secondary recycled water from the main pressure zone to the existing irrigation pond. The irrigation pond is also fed by seasonal mountain stream flows and by water pumped from East Jordan Canal. The secondary water in the irrigation pond is delivered by gravity to users in the upper pressurized irrigation zone and the main zone.

#### 2.2.5 Operation & Maintenance

Operation and maintenance of the secondary recycled wastewater facilities (e.g., pipelines, pump stations) would be the responsibility of DIC and Bluffdale City for their respective appurtenances.

# **CHAPTER 3 – AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES**

This chapter discusses resources that may be affected by the No-Action and Proposed Action Alternatives. The impacts are discussed under the following resource issues:

- Groundwater
- Water Quality
- Water Rights
- Surface Water
- Cultural Resources
- Indian Trust Assets
- Threatened and Endangered Species
- Wetlands and Aquatic Resources
- Climate Change
- Cumulative Impacts
- Construction Impacts

# 3.1 RESOURCES CONSIDERED AND ELIMINATED FROM FURTHER ANALYSIS

The resources listed below were considered but eliminated from further analysis because they did not occur in the Project Study Area or because their effect would be so minor or negligible and insignificant that they were discounted.

- Wilderness Areas and Wild and Scenic Rivers There is no designated wilderness areas or wild and scenic rivers within the Project Study Area
- **Prime and Unique and Statewide Important Farmlands** The Proposed Action would not convert nor impact any prime and unique and statewide important farmlands
- Recreation Resources The Proposed Action would have no impacts to recreational resources
- **Socioeconomics** The Proposed Action would have no impacts to the socioeconomics in south Salt Lake Valley or within DIC and Bluffdale City boundaries
- Wildlife Resources The pipelines required for the Proposed Action would be buried and mainly within the footprint of existing roadways and other disturbed areas. Some features are proposed within the JBWRF site which is fenced and secured and is not available as habitat for larger species (e.g., deer). The Proposed Action would have no impacts to wildlife resources
- **Visual Resources** The required pipelines for the Proposed Action would be buried and mainly within the footprint of existing roadways or other disturbed areas. The above ground features (e.g., recycling pump houses, wells) are located within the JBWRF site

which is an industrial area and not considered a visually sensitive area. There would be no visual impacts resulting from the Proposed Action

• Environmental Justice - Executive Order 12898 establishes Environmental Justice as a federal agency priority to safeguard that minority and low-income populations are not disproportionately affected by federal actions. The Proposed Action would not require relocations or property acquisitions, health hazards, hazardous waste, or socioeconomic impacts. The Proposed Action would not disproportionately impact any minority or low-income populations

#### 3.2 GROUNDWATER

#### 3.2.1 Affected Environment

Groundwater is regulated by the State Engineer through the Utah Division of Water Rights. Groundwater flow direction in the Salt Lake Valley is from east to west from the Wasatch Mountains, and from the west to east from the Oquirrh Mountains, both flows converging at the Jordan River Corridor in the center of the valley. Groundwater recharge in the Salt Lake Valley is mainly from natural precipitation, irrigation including seepage from canals, river/creek seepage, and subsurface inflow. The groundwater resource in the Project Study Area is mainly within the JBWRF site and an undeveloped portion of land south of the existing main JBWRF structures along Jordan Basin Lane and the Jordan River.

Geotechnical studies and aquifer test well pump evaluations have been conducted to determine the site soil and aquifer conditions at the JBWRF site. The water table was first encountered approximately eight feet below ground surface. Aquifer pump tests identified two distinct, shallow aquifer zones: an upper shallow zone bound by a layer that is impermeable about 79 feet below existing site and a lower shallow zone bound by an overlaying clay layer between 79 and 90 feet below grade to a total depth of approximately 150 feet. Monitoring wells showed that the depth to the groundwater in the upper shallow zone is between ground level to 0.4-feet above ground level (artesian) near the JBWRF administrative building. Groundwater flows in the east to northeasterly direction across the site towards the Jordan River which is considered a discharge point in the Salt Lake Valley between the Wasatch Front and the Oquirrh mountains (Lambert, 1995).

#### 3.2.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.2.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect to groundwater resources.

#### 3.2.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

Groundwater pumping can alter how water moves between the aquifer and the Jordan River by either intercepting its discharge flow into the Jordan River, or by increasing the rate of water movement from the Jordan River into an aquifer. Groundwater pumping may also impact structures due to subsidence.

Part of the Project includes the construction of four shallow groundwater wells near the recycled water pump station and water from the wells would be used for a portion of DIC's allotted water. DIC has an existing water right for the proposed shallow groundwater wells under the permanent change application number 57-10180. In total, DIC has water rights for 4,725.85 acre-feet that can be diverted from the Jordan River via the East Jordan Canal or from the future shallow groundwater wells.

The pumping of the four proposed shallow groundwater wells would have negligible and an insignificant effect on groundwater levels in the upper shallow aquifer. The groundwater levels are expected to return to their pre-pumping levels at the end of each irrigation season or when pumping stops.

There is a potential for the Proposed Action Alternative to affect JBWRF structures due to settlement from groundwater drawdown. When groundwater is pumped there is a potential for the ground to subsided or settle. Field tests and analysis have been done to estimate groundwater pumping induced settlement near the proposed wells. The tests and analysis determined that the drawdown cone from proposed four groundwater wells would be relatively flat and are not anticipated to introduce differential settlement. Therefore, there would be no impact to JBWRF structures located near the wells. There is always the potential for surface settlement due to water level draw down. Therefore, a groundwater monitoring and site settlement program would be put in place to monitor drawdown and structure movement.

Pumping from the four shallow groundwater wells would have a negligible and insignificant affect to the water level and flows in the Jordan River. When the four shallow groundwater wells are in use, less water from DIC's allotment would be diverted into the East Jordan Canal via the Jordan River.

# 3.3 WATER QUALITY

#### **3.3.1** Affected Environment

Clean Water Act (CWA) federal rules and regulations require the Utah Division of Water Quality (DWQ) to conduct water quality assessments under Section 303(d) that requires states to identify waters that are not attaining beneficial uses according to state water quality standards (UAC R317.2.7.1). The Utah Section 303(d) list also prioritizes the Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL) required for each listed waterbody and the cause of nonattainment. This list includes waters impaired as a result of nonpoint sources, point source discharges, natural sources, or a combination of sources.

Utah administrative code R317-3-11 "Use, Land Application and Alternate Methods for Disposal of Treated Wastewater Effluents", provides design requirements for effluent disposal or water reuse of municipal wastewater treatment plant effluents. For facilities that produce, treat, dispose of, or otherwise discharge wastewater, a permit from the Utah Division of Water Quality (DWQ) may be required per UAC R317-8, "Utah Pollutant Discharge Elimination System" (UPDES). In 2006, DWQ included the Jordan River on the 303(d) list of the CWA as an impaired

water body for dissolved oxygen (DO), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), and Temperature. The 303(d) list is used to identify those streams or water bodies that are impaired or threatened.

The JBWRF was constructed in 2012 with a treated wastewater capacity of 15 MGD with potential buildout capacity of approximately 30 MGD. Operations at the JBWRF utilize a microfiltration membrane process to treat wastewater effluent which complies with Type 1 wastewater effluent reuse requirements (UAC R317-3-11.4). The JBWRF discharges to the Jordan River which makes up approximately 8-20 percent of the river's flow as measured at 9000 South depending on the natural hydrological conditions, time of year, and upstream diversions. The JBWRF obtained a point source discharge permit as part of the UPDES prior to discharging to the Jordan River. In order for the JBWRF to discharge to a 303(d) listed water body, certain water quality parameters and limits were required for the wastewater effluent entering the Jordan River. JBWRF maintains and operates within the limits of the UPDES permit.

Based on the State's water quality model for the Jordan River, there are measurable water quality benefits from the wastewater effluent discharged by JBWRF to the river. Additionally, SVSD commissioned water quality studies in 2004 that concluded the quality of the effluent would be better in several ways to that of the Jordan River water including lower turbidity, reduced color, lower odors, lower total suspended solids, and possible higher dissolved oxygen. Flow from the JBWRF, at its current built out capacities (15 MGD and 30 MGD, respectively), would represent a significant flow increase in the river during certain times of the year. Any flow increases in the river from the release of the treated wastewater is considered a benefit to the river system (SVSD 2004).

To support the JVWCD member agencies with their interest in developing a viable wastewater recycling project, JVWCD has been analyzing the water quality of the treated wastewater at the JBWRF. The water quality analysis indicates that the chloride concentrations for the JBWRF range between 280 mg/l to 520 mg/l. These chloride concentrations are higher than desired for irrigation. However, the chloride levels are also generally lower than Jordan River water. As part of the Project, four shallow groundwater wells are proposed at the JBWRF site and water pumped from the wells would be mixed with effluent to increase reliable water quality. Mixing the well water would lower the average chloride levels in the water used for the DIC secondary systems (JVWCD 2021).

DIC's and Bluffdale City's existing secondary irrigation water system supplies are subject to algal blooms and suspended solids including sediment, snails, worms, and seeds from Utah Lake/Jordan River. DIC's secondary irrigation water comes from the Utah Lake/Jordan River via the East Jordan Canal. Whereas Bluffdale City's secondary irrigation water supply comes from reuse water (Utah Data Center), Utah Lake/Jordan River via various canals and water purchased from DIC.

#### 3.3.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.3.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on water quality. The Jordan River would continue to receive all of the wastewater effluent from the JBWRF. Overall, JBWRF maintains and operates within the limits of the UPDES Permit and does not

further impact the water quality of the Jordan River. Under the No-Action Alternative CUP wastewater treated at the JBWRF would not be recycled and used to provide additional water for DIC's and Bluffdale City's secondary irrigation systems which could experience water shortages, potentially increasing the culinary water use for secondary irrigation purposes.

#### 3.3.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative.

Currently, all treated wastewater from the JBWRF is discharged to the Jordan River which is beneficial to the river system because it is higher quality then the river water. The Project would allow DIC and Bluffdale City to use their allotted CUP treated wastewater for their respective secondary irrigation systems, reducing the effluent being discharged into the Jordan River during the irrigation season (April 1<sup>st</sup> through October 31<sup>st</sup>). The JBWRF existing and future treatment capacity is 15 MGD (23 cubic feet per second (cfs)) and 30 MGD (46 cfs) respectively. The Project would recycle up to 5,766 acre-feet per year which is about 13.6 cfs during the irrigation season (assumes 214-day irrigation season). Initially the Project would recycle approximately 3,315 acre-feet resulting in 3-8 percent less flow in the Jordan River as measured at 9000 South. At full CUP water availability and treatment plant buildout, an average of 46 cfs would be added to the Jordan River flows, minus approximately 13.6 cfs (5,766 acre-feet per irrigation season) from the recycle Project which would increase flows in the river between 12-27 percent as measured at 9000 South (See Table 3-1).

Description	JBWRF Capacity	DIC & Bluffdale Allotted CUP Treated Wastewater	JBWRF Discharge Flow Rate to the Jordan River	Proposed Action % Discharged (DURING THE IRRIGATION SEASON ONLY)	
No Action	15MGD (23cfs)	Not Applicable	23cfs	Not Applicable	
Current Capacity	15MGD (23cfs)	3,315AF (7.8cfs)	15.2cfs	3-8% Decrease	
Proposed Action	30MGD (46cfs)	5,766AF (13.6cfs)	32.4cfs	12-27% Increase	

#### Table 3-1: Summary of CUP Treated Wastewater Availability

All values are per calendar year and assume a 214-day irrigation season.

During the non-irrigation season, all of the CUP treated wastewater would continue to be discharged into the Jordan River. The Proposed Action Alternative would have minor and insignificant effect on the Jordan River water quality. The effluent water discharged from the JBWRF would be higher quality than the water currently in Utah Lake and the Jordan River. By adding wastewater effluent to the existing secondary irrigation water, the DIC's and Bluffdale

City's irrigation systems overall would have a higher water quality with less solids including algae, snails, sediments, worms, seeds, and debris from Utah Lake. Therefore, the Proposed Action Alternative would have a beneficial effect to water quality in the DIC's and Bluffdale City's irrigation systems.

#### 3.4 WATER RIGHTS

#### 3.4.1 Affected Environment

The water rights related to the Project are held by the United States (CUP Bonneville Unit water) and DIC. Water right number 55-4494 is held by the United States and through contract administered by CUWCD which has allocated a part of it to JVWCD. DIC and Bluffdale City would use a portion of the JVWCD water for their secondary water system after treatment at JBWRF. DIC also holds water right numbers 57-10180, -10181, -10269 approved for 4,725.85 acre-feet of secondary water that can be diverted from the Jordan River or pumped from the proposed four shallow groundwater wells. DIC's existing water right for the proposed shallow groundwater wells is under permanent change application number 57-10180. The Bonneville Unit water (55-4494) results in return flows in the form of treated M&I wastewater which can be used for secondary recycling in Salt Lake County upon approval.

DIC and Bluffdale City have secondary irrigation systems that are supplied, in part, with Utah Lake and Jordan River water delivered via canals. The Utah Lake waters are secondary rights in the lake and are subject to shortages and cuts during drought years as detailed in a technical memo prepared for JVWCD (JVWCD, 2021). DIC recently completed a Water Rights Master Plan that showed they would experience secondary irrigation water shortages at times, especially if Utah Lake/Jordan River water is not available due to low levels or toxic algal bloom conditions or when the State Engineer cuts secondary water rights in the lake (e.g., 2016 and 2022). The Project would install four shallow groundwater wells that would provide DIC with a resilient water source, under their approved water right, that would shore-up their secondary irrigation supply. DIC would not need to solely rely on their Utah Lake secondary water rights and the other water collected by their system.

#### 3.4.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.4.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on existing water rights. Secondary water deliveries would continue as allowed by existing water rights. The No-Action Alternative would not provide CUP wastewater from the JBWRF to be recycled to help meet the secondary irrigation needs for DIC and Bluffdale City. DIC's change application for the proposed shallow groundwater would not be used to supplement their secondary irrigation system under the No-Action Alternative.

The treatment and recycling of CUP Bonneville Unit return flows from wastewater, as quantified by the State Engineer, is an important part of the ULS. The No-Action Alternative would not assist DOI, CUWCD, and the Mitigation Commission with

meeting their ULS EIS commitment to recycle 18,000 acre-feet of secondary water in Salt Lake County.

#### 3.4.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

The Proposed Action would extend and make more resilient the water supply for DIC and Bluffdale City. As part of the Project, JVWCD would allocate a portion of CUP treated wastewater from the JBWRF to DIC and Bluffdale City for a combined volume of 5,766 acre-feet. These volumes would be used during the irrigation season only as required by the DIC and Bluffdale City water rights. DIC and Bluffdale City recycling wastewater and use in their secondary irrigation systems would assist DOI, CUWCD, and the Mitigation Commission to meet a portion of their 18,000 acre-feet ULS commitment. There would be no change to the beneficial uses of existing water rights.

#### **3.5 SURFACE WATER**

#### 3.5.1 Affected Environment

The Jordan River is approximately 50 miles long beginning at the north end of Utah Lake in Utah County. The river flows northward through the center of Salt Lake Valley. There are a number of diversions on the Jordan River mainly in the Jordan Narrows segment near the Utah/Salt Lake County line. One of the largest diversions, known as the Surplus Canal, is located at approximate 1100 West 2100 South in Salt Lake. These diversions are used to supply irrigation and secondary water supplies to the Salt Lake Valley. The Jordan River's major tributaries are Little Cottonwood, Big Cottonwood, Red Butte, Emigration, Mill, Parley's, and City creeks, although most of the water flowing in these tributaries is diverted before reaching the river.

The SVSD provides wastewater collection and treatment services to a large and rapidly growing area in Southern Salt Lake County and northern Utah County, including Draper City and Bluffdale City. Prior to the construction of the JBWRF, the SVSD wastewater went to the South Valley Water Reclamation Facility (SVWRF) located at 7500 South and 1300 West in West Jordan that is jointly owned by SVSD and four other entities. The SVWRF discharges treated wastewater into the Jordan River. SVSD decided to construct their own wastewater treatment plant (JBWRF) to meet the increasing needs of the growing communities they serve. Currently, JBWRF is designed to treat 15 MGD wastewater and it is all discharge to the Jordan River. The treatment plant is planned to be expanded to 30 MGD sometime in the future.

The JBWRF began discharging treated wastewater effluent into the Jordan River after it was constructed in 2012. Within eight years, JVWCD will contract for their 16,400 acre-feet of ULS water which is imported into the Bonneville Basin from the Colorado River Basin. Some of the JVWCD ULS water would be treated at the JBWRF and be used as part of Proposed Action and/or discharged into the Jordan River.

The surface water that may be affected by the proposed project is the Jordan River. Spills and flood-control releases to the river occur when Utah Lake reaches or exceeds the Compromise Elevation which is the maximum legal storage elevation in Utah Lake and is defined at 4489.045 feet above mean sea level. When the lake elevation is above Compromise Elevation, the control gates to the Jordan River must be fully opened with the exception that they cannot exceed

maximum flows in the Jordan River and cause flooding downstream. Much of the water released from Utah Lake into the river is diverted for irrigation and secondary system use in Salt Lake Valley during the irrigation season. Monthly flow rates on the Jordan River during the irrigation season are shown in Table 3-2 below.

	Apr	Мау	June	July	Aug	Sept	Oct
*Utah Lake to the Jordan River	541	804	867	846	702	508	228
9000 South	167	156	226	149	97	94	88

Table 3-2: Average Jordan River Flows (during the irrigation season)

\* Supplemental to the Bonneville Unit 1988 Definite Plan Report, Water Supply Appendix Attachment D, October 2004

#### 3.5.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.5.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no negative effect on surface water. It could have beneficial impacts to the Jordan River because as additional CUP water is developed (e.g., ULS 22,000 acre-feet of M&I water in Salt Lake County), the amount of return flow to the river will increase with a better-quality treated wastewater effluent.

#### 3.5.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

During design of JBWRF, SVSD anticipated that a future secondary means of disposal of treated effluent would be to recycle the effluent for irrigation and similar purposes (SVSD 2007) under the Utah Reuse Act. The Proposed Action would divert a portion of the treatment plant effluent for use in the DIC and Bluffdale City's secondary irrigation systems during the irrigation season.

The anticipated impacts to the Jordan River would be negligible and insignificant. Currently, the JBWRF capacity is 15 MGD (about 23 cfs) and all of this water is discharged into the Jordan River. The Proposed Action would initially recycle approximately 7.8 cfs (3,315 acre-feet) during the irrigation season, resulting in less water being discharged into the river from the JBWRF. This reduction would be between 3-8 percent less total water flowing in the Jordan River as measured at 9000 South (see Table 3-3 for average Jordan River flow rates). At full CUP water availability and JBWRF build out (30 MGD or about 46 cfs) and with the Proposed Action (recycling 5,766 acre-feet), the discharge to the Jordan River would be reduced by approximately 13.6 cfs (about 6-15 percent). However, the JBWRF would still discharge an approximate additional 32 cfs to the Jordan River during the irrigation season. This would increase the rivers flow rate compared to its current flow rate. This increase is due to twice the amount of water being treated at the JBWRF. The anticipated flow rate in the Jordan River from a future 30 MGD JBWRF would be between 12-27 percent more water than is currently flowing in the river. Therefore, the effects to the Jordan River would be insignificant.

#### 3.6 CULTURAL RESOURCES

Cultural resources are defined as physical or other expressions of human activity or occupation. Such resources include culturally significant landscapes, prehistoric and historic archaeological sites, as well as isolated artifacts or features, traditional cultural properties, Native American and other sacred places, and artifacts and documents of cultural and historic significance.

Section 106 of the National Register of Historic Places (NHPA) of 1966, mandates that the JLAs take into account the potential effects of a proposed Federal undertaking on historic properties. Historic properties are defined as any prehistoric or historic district, site, building, structure, or object included in, or eligible for, inclusion in the NRHP. Potential effects of the described alternatives on historic properties are the primary focus of this analysis.

In accordance with 36 CFR 800.4, the sites were evaluated for significance in terms of NRHP eligibility. The significance criteria applied to evaluate cultural resources are defined in 36 CFR 60.4 as follows:

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, association and

- Criterion A. That are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history; or
- Criterion B. That are associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or
- Criterion C. That embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction; or
- Criterion D. That have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

In compliance with 36 CFR 800.4(d)(2) and 36 CFR 800.11(e), a copy of the Class III cultural resource inventory report and a determination of historic properties affected were submitted to the Utah State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) for cultural significance to historic properties possibly affected by the Proposed Action for consultation.

#### 3.6.1 Affected Environment

The area of potential effect (APE) for this Proposed Action for cultural resources was defined as three locations of irregularly shaped polygons and linear corridors within which all ground disturbance, easements, and other actions that may impact cultural resources are expected to occur. In total, the APE contained approximately 31 acres. A Class I records search and a Class III cultural resource inventory of the APE were completed in April 2022. The Utah Division of State History (UDSH) file search indicated that 14 archaeological sites and 69 buildings and structures

reported within 1/2 mile of the current the APE. Four cultural resource sites were identified in the survey area listed and described below:

- Jordan & Salt Lake City Canal (42SL214) determined eligible
- East Jordan Canal (42SL290) determined eligible
- 249 E. 13650 S. determined not eligible
- 13530 S. 300 E. determined not eligible

#### 3.6.1.1 Jordan & Salt Lake City Canal (42SL214)

The Jordan & Salt Lake City Canal is one of the oldest major canals constructed in the Salt Lake Valley. Construction began in 1879 and continued for more than a decade as the canal was extended north from its weir on the Jordan River in the Jordan Narrows area through the valley. The canal provided irrigation water to lands above the Jordan River floodplain. Numerous segments of the canal have been documented previously, including the segment in the current APE, which was documented most recently in 2010. The segment in the current APE comprises an open, unlined ditch measuring approximately 8 meters wide by 1.5 meters deep. The channel has a flared U-shaped cross-section. The canal crosses through the current APE via a modern concrete culvert on 13490 South. No historical features were noted along the 410-meter-long segment of the canal that was inspected for the current undertaking. This segment begins south at Bangerter Highway and extends north through the current APE into private lands for which access had not been granted.

**NRHP Evaluation.** As noted, many segments of the canal have been documented previously and evaluated for listing on the National Register. Based on these evaluations, the overall canal site has been **determined eligible** for the National Register under Criteria A and B.

#### 3.6.1.2 East Jordan Canal (42SL290)

The East Jordan Canal is among the oldest major canals constructed in the Salt Lake Valley. Construction was completed in 1883. The canal carries irrigation water from the Jordan River in the Jordan Narrows area through the eastern and southeastern parts of the valley. Numerous segments of the canal have been documented previously; however, the segment in the current APE does not appear to have been the subject of such documentation prior to the current undertaking. The segment of the canal in and adjacent to the current APE comprises an open, unlined ditch measuring approximately 10 meters wide by 1.5 meters deep, though the actual flow channel is less than 1 meter deep. The channel has a wide, flat-bottomed U-shaped cross-section. The canal crosses through the current APE via a historical concrete Tbeam bridge (UDOT Structure # 035081D) that was built in 1945. A pair of historical water control features—one a storm drain inlet and the other a dual-gate turnout into a lateral ditch network—were identified along the documented segment. These features retain sufficient integrity to be considered contributing components of the canal site. **NRHP Evaluation.** As noted above, many segments of the canal have been documented previously and evaluated for listing on the National Register. Based on these evaluations, the overall canal site has been **determined eligible** for the National Register under Criterion A for the significant role the canal played in expanding settlement opportunities and supporting the agricultural economy that sustained the communities it served throughout the late-1800s and early-1900s. The historical bridge (Structure 035081D) over the canal was determined by UDOT to be ineligible for the National Register as part of the *Utah Historic Bridge Inventory.* 

#### 3.6.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.6.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on cultural resources.

#### 3.6.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

The proposed project resulted in a "No Historic Properties Affected" as agreed to by the Utah State Historic Preservation Office which concurred with these determinations on May 9, 2022 (Agardy 2022).

# 3.7 INDIAN TRUST ASSETS

Indian Trust Assets (ITAs) are legal interests in property held in trust by the United States for federally recognized Indian tribes or individuals. Assets can be real property, physical assets, or intangible property rights, such as lands, minerals, hunting and fishing rights, and water rights. The U.S. Department of the Interior's policy is to recognize and fulfill its legal obligations to identify, protect and conserve the trust resources of federally recognized Indian tribes and tribal members, and to consult with the tribes on a government-to-government basis whenever plans or actions affect tribal trust resources, trust assets, or tribal safety. Under this policy, the federal government is committed to carrying out its activities in a manner that avoids adverse impacts to ITAs when possible, and to mitigate or compensate for such impacts when it cannot. All impacts to ITAs, even those considered insignificant, must be discussed in the trust analyses in NEPA compliance documents and appropriate compensation or mitigation must be implemented.

#### 3.7.1 Affected Environment

The CUPCA Office sent letters to all Indian Tribes that may have an interest in the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water project requesting information regarding ITAs within the Project Study Area. The Navajo Nation Heritage and Historic Preservation Department responded that they have no Traditional Cultural Properties within the Project Study Area. No other Indian Tribes responded.

#### 3.7.2 Environmental Consequences

There are no known ITAs in the Project Study Area.

3.7.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on ITAs.

3.7.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

The Proposed Action Alternative would have no effect on ITAs.

#### 3.8 THREATENED AND ENDANGERED SPECIES

#### 3.8.1 Affected Environment

This section evaluates the impact the Proposed Action Alternative may have on the yellowbilled cuckoo (*Coccyzus americanus*), June sucker (*Chasmistes liorus*), monarch butterfly (*Danaus plexippus*), and Ute ladies'-tresses (*Spiranthes diluvialis*).

The eastern portion of the Project Study Area is within residential areas in Draper City where the proposed action is primarily in or directly adjacent to the existing roadway, including the proposed staging areas. This portion of the action area is primarily roadway abutting residential property with sparse vegetation except one area behind the Adagio apartment complex where a man-made pond and open space allows recreation for the residents and attracts a variety of birds. While migratory birds may be present, there is not suitable habitat for any of the potential threatened or endangered species including yellow-billed cuckoo, June sucker, monarch butterfly, and Ute ladies'-tresses.

The western portion of the Project runs parallel to the Jordan River floodplain. There are several spring channels and streams, riparian habitat, some wetlands present in this area. Most of the surrounding area is open farm fields, residential, roads, and the JBWRF and SVSD offices. The riparian habitat is dominated by cottonwoods and the invasive Russian olive trees where birds may be present.

#### 3.8.1.1 Yellow-billed cuckoos

Yellow-billed cuckoos are a threatened bird that prefers nesting habitat within 100 meters of water classified as lowland riparian characterized by a dense sub-canopy or shrub layer (cottonwood/willow habitats) and are considered riparian obligates. They arrive in the spring for breeding in late May or early June and breed through late June to July. The riparian corridor just east of the western portion of the Project Study Area near the Jordan River contains suitable cuckoo habitat. This includes multi-layered trees and shrubs comprised of cottonwoods, Russian olive, tamarisk, and willows in a habitat patch large enough to meet the minimum size requirement of 12 acre at least 100 meters wide by 100 meters long (USFWS 2017). Presence surveys were conducted for this species within suitable habitat during the 2022 nesting and breeding season per USFWS protocol. No cuckoo detections were made and therefore it is assumed no cuckoo were present during the 2022 season.

#### 3.8.1.2 June sucker

June sucker is a threatened fish endemic to Utah Lake and tributaries to Utah Lake including the Provo River system. As such they are not present in the Jordan River or its tributaries.

#### 3.8.1.3 Monarch butterflies

Monarch butterflies are dependent on open areas with flowering plants and milkweed for breeding. Open areas are present in and near the Project Study Area however, there is no milkweed present nor other flowering plants in abundance to provide a significant nectar source.

#### 3.8.1.4 Ute ladies'-tresses

Ute ladies'-tresses are found in moist to very wet meadows, along streams and ditches, in abandoned stream meanders, and near springs, seeps, and lake shores that are free from overly tall competitive species. The minimal wetland areas in the Project Study Area as well as the vegetated banks of the stream channel are all dominated by dense phragmites and cattails, and as such are not suitable for Ute ladies'-tresses.

#### 3.8.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.8.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on threatened and endangered species.

#### 3.8.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

The Proposed Action Alternative would have no effect on June Sucker, monarch butterfly, or Ute ladies'-tresses based on lack of suitable habitat in the Project Study Area.

Based on suitable habitat, the proposed actions may affect but are not likely to adversely affect the yellow-billed cuckoo because of the lack of occupancy per 2022 season cuckoo surveys, potential nesting and breeding seasonal avoidance, and conservation commitments to conduct early season surveys in 2023 (and subsequent years as needed). Therefore, the effects to yellow-billed cuckoo are insignificant.

If the seasonal avoidance is not possible, USFWS recommends conducting one to two early season nesting surveys ahead of construction to determine current nesting status and potentially clear the Project Study Area again for that specific year. If after surveys are conducted and Yellow-billed cuckoos are found, then the JLA's will talk to USFWS prior to construction.

To maximize conservation measures the JLA's anticipate coordinating with the USFWS on the planning and development of the project, as well as by following best management practices. Specific measures and plans known at this time include the following:

 Cuckoo presence surveys have been conducted for the 2022 nesting and breeding season by a certified and USFWS permitted surveyor. The survey results will be valid for the following season but may be conducted annually to provide clearance for each following year as needed during construction planned within ½-mile of suitable habitat.

- If after surveys are conducted, cuckoos are found to be present, the JLAs will talk to FWS.
- If any trees are expected to be removed as part of the project construction during migratory bird nesting and breeding season (April – August) a qualified biologist will conduct surveys no more than five days prior to the commencement of work. If active nests are found during surveys, tree removal will be postponed until the young have fledged or the nest is no longer active as determined by the biologist.
- Equipment will be cleaned to remove noxious weeds/seeds and petroleum products prior to moving on site. Additionally, any chemical pollutants produced during the construction activities shall be properly disposed of offsite.
- Fueling machinery will occur off site or in a confined, designated area to prevent spillage into waterways and wetlands.
- Materials will not be stockpiled in the riparian areas or other sensitive areas such as wetlands.
- Fill materials will be free of fines, waste, pollutants, and noxious weeds/seeds.
- Excavated soils will be sorted into mineral soil and topsoil. When backfilling a disturbed site, topsoil will be placed on top to provide a seed bed for native plants.
- Excavated material and construction debris may not be wasted in any stream channel or placed in flowing waters or adjacent wetlands; this will include material such as grease, oil, joint coating, or any other possible pollutants. Excess material must be wasted at an upland site away from any channel or habitat of a federally-listed or sensitive species.
- Any natural (unpaved) areas temporarily impacted by the project will be revegetated with an approved seed mix or planting plan.

#### 3.9 WETLANDS AND AQUATIC RESOURCES

#### 3.9.1 Affected Environment

A spring fed creek flows east through the Project Study Area enroute to the nearby Jordan River. This is a perennial stream that flows into navigable waters and for this reason, the stream and adjacent wetlands are considered "Waters of the U.S." (WOTUS). WOTUS are regulated by the Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). According to the Aquatic Resource Delineation conducted in November 2021, 0.06 acres of wetlands and 0.10 acres or 77 linear feet of stream channel are present in the Project Study Area. Figures 3-1 through 3-3 illustrate the delineation results including the location of the stream and wetlands in the Project Study Area.

#### 3.9.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.9.2.1 No-Action Alternative

The No-Action Alternative would have no effect on wetlands.

#### 3.9.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

The Proposed Action Alternative would impact less than 0.10 acres of wetlands including the stream channel impacts from the installation of the pipelines and construction of the four shallow wells. After construction is complete, this area would be returned to pre-construction contours and restored with wetland plantings. The restored area would be monitored for three years to ensure continued success with appropriate improvement measures taken if needed.

Nationwide Permit number 58 requires that the permittee complete and submit to the USACE if the impact will result in a loss of WOTUS greater than 0.10 acres. Therefore, since the Project would not impact more than required for notification, no Preconstruction Notice to the USACE is required.



Figure 3-1: Delineation Results



Figure 3-2: Delineation Results



Figure 3-3: Delineation Results

Page Intentionally Left Blank

# 3.10 CLIMATE CHANGE

The earth's climate is changing, as evidenced by rising temperatures, shifting snow and rainfall patterns, and more extreme climate events like heavy rainstorms and record high temperatures. Climate change is in part caused by greenhouse gases which trap heat in the atmosphere. Burning fossil fuels (coal, natural gas, and oil), solid waste, trees, and other biological materials release carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) into the atmosphere. Emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> make up the largest component, 79%, of greenhouse gas emissions.

Executive Order 13514, Federal Leadership in Environmental, Energy, and Economic Performance established an integrated strategy towards sustainability in the federal government and made the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions a priority for agencies.

#### 3.10.1 Affected Environment

Weather patterns are changing over time, including warmer temperatures, more severe storms, and increased drought. The Project Study Area and the areas supplied by the regional water delivery system are being affected by these changes.

#### 3.10.2 Environmental Consequences

#### 3.10.2.1 No-Action Alternative

Under the No-Action Alternative, DIC and Bluffdale City would continue to use water supplied from Utah Lake and delivered through the Jordan River and canals for their secondary irrigation needs. As discussed above, the water rights currently used are subject to shortages and reductions during times of drought. The No-Action Alternative would not provide a more resilient secondary water system for these agencies.

#### 3.10.2.2 Proposed Action Alternative

Additional CO<sub>2</sub> emissions would be emitted during the construction of the Proposed Action (see Air Quality below in the Construction Impacts section). The Proposed Action is in response to the variability of the hydrologic cycle which may result from climate change. The secondary irrigation system for DIC and Bluffdale City would become more resilient from climate change upon implementation of the Proposed Action.

#### 3.11 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

In addition to Project-specific impacts as discussed above, the JLAs analyzed the potential for significant cumulative impacts to resources affected by the Proposed Action and by other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable actions in south Salt Lake Valley. Cumulative impacts are the incremental impacts to the environment of the Proposed Action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions, regardless of what agency or person undertakes such other actions (40 CFR §1508.7). Cumulative impact analysis is focused on the sustainability of the environmental resource in light of all the forces acting upon it and can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking place over time. The

regulation focuses on whether the Proposed Action, considered together with any known or reasonably foreseeable actions by the JLAs, other federal or state agencies, or some other entity, combined to cause an effect.

The Proposed Action would be constructed within areas or along roadways that have already been disturbed or developed. The Proposed Action is not anticipated to increase the potential for land developments. The construction of the Proposed Action would have short-term impacts that are temporary in nature, negligible, and insignificant impact to several resources (see discussion below) and would therefore be expected to end after the construction is completed. Therefore, based on the review of the Proposed Action, the JLAs have determined that the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project would not have a significant adverse cumulative effect on any resource.

# 3.12 CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS

Construction of the Proposed Action would have short-term impacts that are temporary in nature, negligible, and insignificant. Resources that may be impacted by construction are discussed below.

# 3.12.1 Air Quality

Construction of the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project would have temporary and insignificant impacts on air quality related to emissions from the use of construction equipment and fugitive dust. Vehicles and equipment would emit during construction air pollutants in small quantities. PM<sub>10</sub> emissions are associated with the dust created from land clearing and ground excavation, and road repair operations. Other pollutants (e.g., PM<sub>2.5</sub>, CO, sulfur oxides [SOx]) are generated from heavy-duty diesel engines used for construction. Fugitive dust can also be produced by winds blowing through the construction site and by trucks carrying uncovered loads. Additionally, mud tracked onto paved roads leading to and from the construction site creates a source of fugitive dust after it dries.

Some dust would be released and become airborne during the construction; implementation of Best Management Practices (BMPs), including periodic watering of borrow and spoil material, and access roads, would prevent large amounts of dust from being emitted. PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> emissions from construction activities are usually local and short-term and last only for the duration of the construction period.

Construction activities would not violate air quality standards, based on the implementation of BMPs and the short duration of construction. Therefore, there would be short-term and localized minor impacts and no long-term impacts to air quality. Fugitive dust and other emissions BMPs include the following:

- Watering the soil and other exposed areas or using other similar approved dust suppressant/soil binder.
- Wetting materials hauled in trucks, providing adequate freeboard (space from the top of the material to the top of the truck), or covering loads to reduce emissions during material transportation/handling.

- Providing a stabilized construction entrance or track-out pad, wheel washers, and/or other similar BMPs at construction offices and site access areas to reduce track-out onto the adjacent roadway network.
- Sweeping or vacuuming tracked-out materials deposited onto adjacent roadways.
- Wetting material stockpiles to prevent wind-blown emissions.
- Establishing vegetative cover on bare ground as soon as possible after grading to reduce wind-blown dust.
- Minimizing the extent of disturbed surfaces.
- Requiring appropriate emission-control devices on all construction equipment.
- Using only properly operating, well-maintained construction equipment.
- Reduced speeds on dirt access roads.
- Restricting earthwork activities during times of abnormal high wind events.

#### 3.12.2 Noise and Vibration

Residents and businesses near the construction of the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project may experience temporary inconvenience, mainly from the installation of pipelines, due to construction related noise and vibration. Extended disruption of normal activities is not anticipated, since no single area would be exposed to construction noise of long duration. Temporary construction noise would be minimized through adherence to standard specifications for noise levels in the construction area:

• Noise Levels in the construction area: the contractor will comply with applicable federal, state, and local laws, orders, and regulations concerning the prevention, control, and abatement of excessive noise. The contractor will monitor construction noise levels within the construction area. Mufflers on construction equipment shall be checked regularly to minimize noise. The construction contractor would follow the Salt Lake County Health Department's noise ordinance in addition to the Draper and Bluffdale city's noise ordinances. A construction noise permit would be required by Salt Lake County Health Department.

Vibration may be generated during construction of the Proposed Action and could be an inconvenience to nearby residents and businesses. However, the impacts would be temporary and only occur during the construction phase of this project. The majority of construction vibration is a result of heavy equipment use. The contractor would be required to adhere to standard specifications for compliance with laws and regulations.

#### 3.12.3 Transportation and Utilities

There would be temporary travel delays, temporary changes in roadway alignments, and road closures along certain roadways during construction due to the movement of heavy machinery and other equipment and supplies. Travel in the area to and from private property or for other

public purposes would be maintained throughout construction. Prior to construction, a Traffic Control Plan would be developed to address traffic concerns and approved by the cities impacted by the construction and the engineer.

During construction, it is anticipated that at least one lane of traffic would remain open for access to residences, and commercial businesses. There is the potential for full road closure in some areas for short periods of time. The secondary irrigation pipeline would be installed in sections, which would keep the impacts localized to existing construction areas.

BMPs would be required by the contractor during construction to mitigate for expected transportation impacts including:

- Where possible, the use of residential urban streets for construction haul routes would be minimized.
- Traffic control plans would be developed in coordination with local agencies to minimize impacts to the public.
- A public information plan would be prepared and distributed, including project schedule, status, utility disruptions, and contact information.
- Advance notice for road closures, detours, and delays would be provided.
- Access to residences would be maintained as possible.
- Detailed inventory of utilities and utility providers would be prepared to minimize disruption in utility service.

#### 3.12.4 Public Safety

Public safety during all construction activities would be addressed by the contractor implementing appropriate BMPs to manage site access. Construction site boundaries would be clearly fenced and marked. Open excavations would be covered and blocked off from the public with barriers. Proper road construction signs and warnings would be placed in strategic points wherever construction activities would be conducted to inform pedestrians and drivers of the construction. The BMPs for public safety include:

- At all times, construction fencing would be around the perimeter of construction zones to warn and keep out non-construction persons.
- Cover all open trenches with heavy metal plates outside of construction times.
- Use of orange construction signs warning of risk.
- A public information plan would be prepared and distributed, including project schedule, status, utility disruptions, and contact information.
- Construction traffic would maintain minimum driving speeds within residential neighborhoods

#### 3.12.5 Water Quality and Storm Water Control

Construction activities in the Project Study Area would disturb soils increasing the potential for temporary soil erosion, sedimentation, and siltation impacts which could affect receiving

waters during a storm event. To prevent construction impacts, the contractor would be required to comply with all federal and state laws and regulations regarding control and abatement of water pollution during construction. All waste materials and sewage from construction activities or project-constructed features would be disposed of as specified by federal and state health and pollution control regulations. The Contractor would be required to monitor water quality of discharges and receiving water, both background and below discharges, during any construction activities that could impact water quality.

Potential pollutants and wastes include refuse, garbage, cement, concrete, sewage effluent, industrial waste, oil, and other petroleum products, aggregate processing tailings, mineral salts, and thermal pollution. Excavated materials would not be stockpiled or deposited near or on surface waters or other watercourse perimeters where they could be washed away by storm runoff or encroach upon the sensitive area. Construction activities would be required to use methods prevent entrance or accidental spillage of solid matter, contaminants, debris, and other objectionable pollutants and wastes from entering any storm water system, other watercourses, and underground water sources. Excavated materials would not be stockpiled or deposited near or on surface waters or other watercourse perimeters where they could be washed away by storm deposited near or on surface waters or other watercourse perimeters where they could be washed away by storm water sources.

Construction activities that disturb more than one acre require the development of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to comply with the Utah Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit (UPDES). The SWPPP may include such measures as using silt fences, fiber mesh rolls, check-dams, or other techniques to minimize impacts to the surrounding receiving waters. The contractor will be required to adhere to standard specifications for drainage and sediment control.

#### 3.12.6 Soils and Vegetation

The contractor would be required to prevent and minimize erosion and siltation during construction and to reestablish permanent vegetative cover on disturbed sites. The contractor will be required to use a native and approved seed mix on disturbed areas. Clearing schedules would be arranged to minimize the practical exposure of soils. Final erosion control and site restoration measures would be initiated as soon as an area is no longer needed for construction, stockpiling, or access. Upon project completion, all yards, offices, and construction buildings, and all construction materials and debris would be removed from the site. Construction roads, if needed, would be restored to the original contour. Erosion control measures would be initiated as soon as an area is no longer needed for construction, stockpiling, or access. Any land disturbed, but not permanently occupied by new facilities would be graded to provide proper drainage and blend with the natural contours of the land and restored to its pre-construction condition. Where such lands were vegetated, they would be covered with topsoil stripped from construction areas, and revegetated, as appropriate, with plants native to the area and beneficial to wildlife.

#### 3.12.7 Invasive Species and Noxious Weeds

This disturbance of soils and vegetation could allow for the establishment or spread of invasive species and noxious weeds. Construction specifications would require the contractor to preserve the natural landscape and prevent any unnecessary destruction, scarring, or defacing of the natural surroundings in the work vicinity. All trees, native shrubbery, and other vegetation would be preserved and protected from construction operations and equipment except where clearing operations are required for permanent structures, approved construction roads, or excavation operations. All maintenance yards, field offices, and staging areas would be arranged to preserve trees and vegetation to the maximum practicable extent. Clearing operations would be limited to those needed for construction. Areas around structures would be backfilled and compacted, and all disturbed areas reclaimed to the native vegetation type. Disturbed areas would be reseeded with native grasses and erosion control measures would be put in place to prevent the incursion of invasive weed species.

To prevent the spreading of invasive species, the contractor would be required to adhere to the following guidelines:

- Identify invasive and noxious weeds within the areas planned for earthwork operations.
- Treat areas identified as having invasive and noxious weeds with an approved herbicide within 10 days before starting earthwork operations.
- Clean all earth-moving before entering the project site.

#### 3.12.8 Hazardous Waste

The contractor would be required to implement BMPs for hazardous wastes generated from construction-related activities. The BMPs may include:

- All hazardous waste materials, including wastes, petroleum products, and solid wastes, would be handled, stored, and disposed of in conformance with federal and state regulations to prevent soil, groundwater, or surface water contamination.
- The Utah Division of Environmental Response and Remediation (DERR) would be contacted immediately if any contaminated soil or hazardous material is discovered during construction, including petroleum hydrocarbons or other previously unidentified hazardous materials or contaminated soils. The appropriate characterization and handling of the material would be conducted in accordance with DERR guidance.
- Absorbent pads or sheets would be readily available onsite. If onsite maintenance of construction equipment is required, absorbent pads would be placed under likely leak or spill sources. Mitigation for incidental spills or leaks of hydraulic fluid or diesel fuel from construction equipment would be implemented, including cleaning up the spill immediately, removing contaminated soil from the site, and properly disposing of it in conformance with federal and state regulations.

# CHAPTER 4 – PROJECT COORDINATION

Chapter 4 describes the project coordination and public involvement activities for the Project.

# 4.1 PUBLIC AND AGENCY SCOPING

As part of the EA process, the JLAs conducted public and agency scoping and coordination in January and February 2022 during which the public and agencies were invited to review project information and to submit comments. Information disseminated consisted of:

- Listing project proponents Central Utah Water Conservancy District, Department of the Interior CUPCA Office, DIC and Bluffdale City.
- Project background.
- Stating that the NEPA process had been initiated.
- Describing the Proposed Action Alternative to be evaluated.
- Maps showing the general location of the Proposed Action Alternative.
- Soliciting comments and concerns and how to submit them.
- Providing contact information including telephone numbers, email, and web site address.
- The JLAs used the following to notify the public and agencies about the proposed project and to solicit comments:
  - Mailed a scoping document to interested parties and to local, state, and federal agencies. This document included information about the Proposed Action, project proponents, and how to comment.
  - Developed a project webpage with a newsletter, project contact information, and a means to provide comments on the proposed project.
  - Newspaper ad with project information.
  - Native American Consultation Letters with an attached newsletter (sent by the CUPCA Office).

The JLAs and project proponents held a public information meeting on Tuesday, February 8, 2022, at the Bowen Collins & Associates Draper Office located at 154 East 14075 South. The meeting was also held electronically. A presentation was given which outlined the proposed project along with other information (e.g., how to comment, project representatives contact info). Questions from the public were addressed at this meeting as well. Twenty-four people attended either in person or online.

#### 4.1.1 Scoping Comments

Five comments were received: three from citizens, one from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), and one from the Navajo Tribe. Comments are found in the JBWRF Secondary Recycled Water Project Scoping Document on the Project website at <u>https://tinyurl.com/jbwrf-secondary</u>.

The USACE stated that it had jurisdiction within the Project Study Area under the authority of Section 404 of the Clean Water Act for the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States. The Navajo Nation Heritage and Historic Preservation Department stated that they have no Traditional Cultural Properties within the proposed Project Study Area.

Name	Title and Project Role	Agency		
W. Russ Findlay	CUPCA Program Coordinator NEPA oversight	CUPCA Office		
Sarah Sutherland	Environmental Programs Manager Overall NEPA oversight	CUWCD		
Rachel Musil	Water Rights Manager CUWCD Water rights	CUWCD		
Chris Hansen	CUPCA Program/Construction Manager	CUWCD		
Chris Elison	NEPA Projects Coordinator NEPA oversight	CUWCD		
Alan Packard	Assistant General Manager Project proponent	JVWCD		
Ken Brand	JBWRF Facility Manager Project proponent	SVSD		
Michael Fazio	City Engineer Project proponent	Bluffdale City		
Steve Cunningham	Assistant General Manager Project proponent	DIC		
Jamie Tsandes, PLA	Environmental Manager Consultant – Lead NEPA author	Bowen Collins & Associates		
LeeAnn Diamond, PG	NEPA Document Manager Consultant – Lead NEPA author	Bowen Collins & Associates		
Jon Oldham, PE	Senior Water Resource Engineer Consultant – Design Lead	Bowen Collins & Associates		
Merissa Davis	Senior Biologist Consultant – Biology and WOTUS	Bowen Collins & Associates		
Jason Luettinger, PE	Senior Water Resource Engineer Consultant – Project Lead	Bowen Collins & Associates		
Sheri Ellis	Archaeologist Consultant – Cultural Resources	Certus Environmental Solutions		

#### **CHAPTER 5 – LIST OF PREPARERS**

## **CHAPTER 6 – REFERENCES**

Kester, Lindsey. 2010. Intermountain Antiquities Computer System form for site 42SL14. On file at the Utah State Historic Preservation Office, Salt Lake City.

National Park Service (NPS). 2002. *How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation*. National Register Bulletin 15. Utah Centennial County History Series. Accessed online on January 9, 2014, at: <u>http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15/</u>

Agardy, Savanna. 2022. Compliance Archaeologist. Salt Lake City: Utah State Historic Preservation Office, Utah Division of State History. Letter. May 9, 2022

JVWCD 2021. Preliminary Scope of Proposed Wastewater Reuse Project at Jordan Basin Water Reclamation Facility Technical Memorandum, February 2021, for JVWCD by Bowen Collins & Associates

SVSD 2007. *Wastewater Treatment Facility Plan and 208 Plan Amendment Final Report,* March 2007, for SVSD by Bowen Collins & Associates

Final Environmental Impact Statement and Records of Decisions, Utah Lake Drainage Basin Water Delivery System (2004 and 2005).

Final Environmental Impact Statement and Record of Decision, UDOT Bangerter 600 West Project (2012).

Lamber, P.M., Numerical Simulation of Ground-Water Flow in Basin-Fill Material in Salt Lake Valley, Utah. Technical Publication 110, Utah Geological Survey (1995).

Supplemental to the 1988 Definite Plan Report for the Bonneville Unit, Water Supply Appendix Attachment D, (October 2004).